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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Methanol Chemicals Company
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Methanol Chemicals Company ("the
Company"), a Saudi Joint Stock Company, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other

standards and pronouncements that are endorsed by the Saudi Organization for Chartered
and Professional Accountants.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with professional
code of conduct and ethics endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
inaccordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Methanol Chemicals Company (continued)

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Key Audit Matte

assessment of non-current

Impairment
assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has

i non-current assets of SR 1,247 million (2020:
I SR 1,355 million).

At each reporting date, the Company reviews
whether there are any events or changes in
circumstances (impairment indicators) which
indicate that the carrying amount of non-
current assets may not be recoverable. If any
impairment  indicators  are
management performs a detailed impairment
assessment by calculating the recoverable

- amounts of non-current assets of the related

- Cash Generating Units (the “CGUs"™) and

. comparing

them against their carrying

- amounts.

For the purpose of the financial statements for

i the

year ended 31 December 2021,
management assessed recent development of
the industry, forecasted demand and pricing of
the Company's products as well as market
volatility driven from new COVID variants as
impairment indicators and, accordingly,
performed detailed impairment assessments
for all the Company's CGUs.

In determining the recoverable amounts,

management estimated the value-in-use of the |
non-current assets related to the Company's |
i CGUs based on the business plans as approved :

- by the Company's Board of Directors which
- reflect the management's view of the external
- market conditions and certain key internal
- variables including estimation of appropriate
. growth and discount rates, including economic

fluctuations and effect of the COVID-19
pandemic on the Company's business.

identified, |
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We performed the following procedures to
address the key audit matter:

- Reviewed the management’'s procedures
in identifying impairment indicators of
property, plant and equipment.

- Reviewed the
management's
Company’'s CGUs.

appropriateness o
identification of th

- Obtained the management's impairment
calculations and related key assumptions
including revenue forecasts, basis of
selection of growth rates and discount
rate, including impact of COVID-19
pandemic.

- Assessed the appropriateness of the

valuation methodology used by the
management  and  evaluated the
reasonableness of management's

assumptions used in the value-in-use
workings to determine the recoverable
amounts of non-current assets related to
the Company's CGUs.

This included:

i. Tested, on sample basis, accuracy of
the input data used by management to
estimate the value-in-use based on
discounted cash flow models;

ii. Testing the reasonableness of
discount and growth rates used in
such discounted cash flow models. Our
internal valuation specialists were
involved to assess the reasonableness
of the discount rate used:
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To the Shareholders of Methanol Chemicals Company (continued)

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Based on the assessment performed, the

. Management has concluded that the
. recoverable amounts of non-currents assets of
certain of the Company's CGUs were lower
than their carrying amounts, and accordingly,
recorded an impairment loss of SR 25 million

SR 157 million).

This assessment required the management to
use significant judgements over the
~assumptions and estimations used in
- performing the forecast. Key assumptions and
estimations used in performing the forecast
are products pricing, future economic and
market conditions, annual growth rate of the
business and weighted average cost of capital
used to discount the future cash flows to its

factors, we determined this as a key audit
: matter.

Refer to notes 3, 5 and 13 of the
accompanying financial statements for the
accounting  policy and other related
information relating to the impairment of non-
current assets.

for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: |

present value. As such, due to the aforesaid

Assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the accompanying financial
statements.

Reviewed the relevant minutes of the
meetings to obtain evidence on the |
Company's decision on discontinuance
of the two CGUs and related
approvals.

Performing sensitivity analyses over
key assumptions in the discounted
cash flow models in order to assess
the potential impact of a range of
possible outcomes.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Methanol Chemicals Company (continued)
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Other information included in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Company's 2021 annual
report, other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Management
is responsible for the other information in its annual report. The Company's 2021 annual
report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. When we
read the Company's 2021 annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that are
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements that are
endorsed by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants and the
provisions of Companies’ Law and Company's By-laws, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Methanol Chemicals Company (continued)
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

= Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Methanol Chemicals Company (continued)
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other matter:

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial
statements on 28 M ding to 15 Sha'ban 1442H.

for Ernst & Youngj Professional Services

Waleed G. Tawfi
Certified Public ccountant
License No. 43

4 Sha'ban 1443H
7 March 2022
Al Khobar

FEY4

Cavaavat s g,
CR.2051058792

(Fagnss Zilgjma ki Hpika)
Ernst & Young Professional Serviees

3\ (Prafessional LLC)




METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

Revenue

Cost of sales
Impairment losses
GROSS PROFIT/ (LOSS)

Selling and distribution expenses
General ahd administrative expenses
Other operating expenses, net

OPERATING PROFIT/ (LOSS)

Finance costs
Finance income
Finance costs, net

PROFIT/ (LOSS) BEFORE ZAKAT

Zakat expense

NET PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive (loss)/ income

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Re-measurements (loss)/ gain on employee benefit obligations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Earnings/ (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted earnings/ (loss) per share (restated)

Note 2021 2020
1,009,548,016 495,709,267
8 (571,478,383) (477,783,461)
13 (25,004,601) (157,098,539)
413,065,032 (139,172,733)
9 (78,274,251) (54,305,819)
10 (43,892,747) (37,631,031)
1 (4,634,397) (5,306,979)
286,263,637 (236,416,562)
12 (23,753,112) (33,234,968)
468,142 659,502
(23,284,970) (32,575,466)
262,978,667 (268,992,028)
28 (18,974,218) (7,102,278)
244,004,449 (276,094,306)
2 (3,994,714) 813,272
240,009,735 (275,281,034)

32 3.62 (4.09)

The accompanying financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 3 March 2022 and were

signed on their behalf by:

Abdullat Ali Al-Hajri

Chief Financial Officer

Ali Mohamed Al-Asiri
Chief Executive Offic

The attached notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

~ ]
*7Bdul Aziz Al-Turki
Chairman
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

Wiy
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) ] | Ol ]
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION e 4 g
CHEMAMNSU

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

2021 2020
Note

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 1,13 1,218,428,706 1,327,756,532
Right-of-use assets 14 18,752,460 21,893,266
Intangible assets 15 9,484,148 5,442,675
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,246,665,314 1,355,092,473
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 16 110,626,421 98,516,049
Trade receivables 17 297,057,583 117,438,845
Prepayments and other current assets 18 58,978,400 22,773,106
Short-term deposits 19 109,000,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents 20 80,239,057 84,082,213
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 655,901,461 322,810,213
TOTAL ASSETS 1,902,566,775 1,677,902,686
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 21 674,508,630 1,206,000,000
Share premium 72,850,071 72,850,071
Statutory reserve 22 68,519,138 44,118,693
Retained earnings/ (accumulated losses) 202,663,626 (544,437,034)
TOTAL EQUITY 1,018,541,465 778,531,730
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term borrowings 23 420,292,715 -
Lease liabilities 14 23,360,258 22,924,115
Employee benefit obligations 24 55,276,548 48,892,233
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 498,929,521 71,816,348
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current portion of long-term borrowings 23 244,913,458 732,191,522
Trade payables 25 32,251,347 25,909,812
Accruals and other current liabilities 26 86,417,880 61,276,643
Current portion of lease liabilities 14 1,237,252 1,176,631
Zakat payable 28 20,275,852 7,000,000
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 385,095,789 827,554,608
TOTAL LIABILITIES 884,025,310 899,370,956
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,902,566,775 1,677,902,686

The accompanying financial statements were authorised fi

signed on their behalf by:

W Afi Al-Hajri Al
Chief'Financial Officer Chief Executive Offic

The attached notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

med Al-Asiri

by the Company’s Board of Directors 6n 3 March 2022 and were

/ .
Ali ASoTT Aziz Al-Turki

Chairman




METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

At 1 January 2020

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the
year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 December 2020

Absorption of accumulated losses
against share capital (note 1)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transfer to statutory reserve

At 31 December 2021

Retained

earnings/

Share Share Statutory (accumulated
capital premium Reserve losses) Total
1,206,000,000 72,850,071 44,118,693 (269,156,000) 1,053,812,764
- . = (276,094,306) (276,094,306)
- - - 813,272 813,272
- - . (275,281,034) (275,281,034)
1,206,000,000 72,850,071 44,118,693 (544,437,034) 778,531,730
(531,491,370) % 5 531,491,370 =
- - 2 244,004,449 244,004,449
. . - (3,994,714) (3,994,714)
- - - 240,009,735 240,009,735
- - 24,400,445 (24,400,445) -
674,508,630 72,850,071 68,519,138 202,663,626 1,018,541,465

The accompanying financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 3 March 2022 and were

signed on their behalf by:

Ké&}ddﬁah Ali Al-Hajri
ief Financial Officer

The attached notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements

~~ .
* < Abdul Aziz Al-Turki
Chairman
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

{A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/ (loss) before zakat

Adjustments to reconcile profit/ (loss) before zakat to net cash

flows:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment losses
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs
Finance income
Provision for slow moving inventories
Provision for employee benefit obligations

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/ decrease in inventories
Increase in trade receivables

(Increase)/ decrease in prepayments and other current assets

Increase in trade payables
Increase in accruals and other current liabilities
Cash generated from operations

Finance costs paid on long-term borrowings
Zakat paid during the year

Employee benefit obligations paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Movement in short-term deposits

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Additions to intangible assets

Finance income received on short-term deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments of long-term borrowings
Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
Transfer of catalyst from inventory to property, plant and
equipment

Absorption of accumulated losses against share capital (note 1)

signed on their behalfy:

Abdullah Afi Al-Haijri

Chief Financial Officer

Note

13, 14,15

13

12

16
24

23
28
24

13

15

23
14

20

2021 2020
262,978,667 (268,992,028)
112,673,287 123,031,889

25,004,601 157,098,539
- 1,055,798

3,594,929 360,838
23,753,112 33,234,968
(468,142) (659,502)
11,245,519 1,375,600
6,439,302 6,990,088
445,221,275 53,496,190
(23,708,091) 23,218,065
(179,618,738) (37,283,024)
(36,050,552) 5,360,269
6,341,535 5,698,358
24,912,906 4,511,356
237,098,335 55,001,214
(30,658,526) (28,177,944)
(5,698,366) (6,052,278)
(3,821,370) (4,541,823)
196,920,073 16,229,169
{109,000,000) -
(27,005,659) (38,351,968)
= 162,589
(5,487,799) -
313,400 761,777
(141,180,058) (37,427,602)
(58,777,370) (3,750,000)
(805,801) (4,055,591)
(59,583,171) (7,805,591)
(3,843,156) (29,004,024)
84,082,213 113,086,237
80,239,057 84,082,213
352,200 -
531,491,370 -

Chairman




M ETHANOL CHEM ICALS COM PANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COM PANY)

NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS U= O —
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(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated) SRTOL SRR S oM

1. CORPORATE INFORM ATION

Methanol Chemicals Company (the “Company” or “Chemanol”) is engaged in the production of Formaldehyde liquid and Urea
Formaldehyde liquid or their mixture with different concentrations, Paraformaldehyde, liquid and powder Formaldehyde resins,
Hexane Methylene Tetramine, Phenol Formaldehyde resins, concrete improvers, Methanol, Carbon monoxide, Di-methylamine,
Mono-methylamine, Tri-mon-methylamine, Di-methyl Formamide, Di-methyl carbon, Penta Aritheretol, Sodium Formate and
Acetaldehyde.

The Company is a joint stock company registered in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and operating under Commercial Registration (CR)
number 2050057828 issued in Dammam on 30 Dhu al-Hijjah 1428H (9 January 2008). The financial statementsinclude the accounts of
the Company and itsbranch registered in Jubail under CRNo. 2055001870 dated 28 Dhu al-Hijjah 1409H (1 August 1989). The registered
address of the Company is P.O. Box 2101, dubail 31951, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

COVID-19 Impact assessment

During 2020, the Company’s revenues and net results were significantly impacted by the advent of COVID-19. Thiswas mainly due to
issues with logistics and decline in prices of the Company’s products as certain markets and countries were locked down by their
respective governments as a measure to prevent the spread of COVID-19. The increased uncertainty around short to medium term
demand of the Company’s products also resulted in a significant decrease in the prices of such products. Accordingly, management
revised its business plans, taking into account the most recent available information. Based on the approved business plans, the
Company updated the value-in-use workings of non-current assets related to its Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”) and determined that
the recoverable amounts of the non-current assets of certain CGUswere lower than their carrying amounts. Accordingly, the Company
recorded an impairment loss of Saudi Riyals 157.1 million during year ended 31 December 2020. Further, during the year, management
has taken into account recent developments of the industry, forecasted demand and pricing of the Company’s products and market
volatility driven from new COVID variants and concluded that it is no longer viable to continue with two product lines of the Company.
Accordingly, the Company has recorded an additional impairment loss of Saudi Riyals 25.0 million in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The global economy is recovering faster than was expected at the beginning of the year, and the number of people vaccinated against
COVID-19 is increasing. In addition, protective measures and contact restrictions are relaxed. With the recovery of global economy
during the year, the Company has witnessed an increase in the prices of most of its products, primarily due to increase in demand of
such products as lockdowns in key markets and countries have been relaxed. The increase in prices of such products hasresulted in an
increase in revenue and profitability for the year. Uncertainty remains, however, with the prospect of further COVID outbreak as a
result of new variants, for instance.

The Company’s management has also assessed other impacts of COVID-19 on its operations and continues to take preventative
measures to ensure the health and safety of its employees and minimize the impact of the pandemic on its operations. However, as
the situation is fluid and evolving, management continues to monitor and is taking necessary steps to ensure the continuity of its
operations.

Restructuring of long-term borrowings

Asexplained in Note 23, the Company signed agreementsduring the year with the respective lender institutionsto restructure itslong-
term borrowings. Further, the Company has appointed a financial advisor to assist in identifying the optimum financing structure and
work with the lendersto implement a sustainable financial solution with improved terms and conditions.

Equity restructuring

During the Company’s extraordinary General Assembly meeting held on 18 Dhu’l-Qi’dah 1442H (corresponding to 28 June 2021), a
decrease in share capital from Saudi Riyals 1,206,000,000 to Saudi Riyals 674,508,630 was approved by the shareholders as proposed
by the Board of Directors. The decrease in share capital has been approved through absorbing accumulated losses of the Company
amounting to Saudi Riyals 531,491,370. The legal formalities relating to the above were also completed during the year. The earnings
per share (note 32) for the comparative year has been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the treatment of the effect of decrease in
share capital as required by the relevant accounting standard.

On 9 August 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company resolved and recommended to the shareholders of the Company to increase
the Company’s share capital from Saudi Riyals 674,508,630 to Saudi Riyals 1,225,000,000 through rights issue of 55,049,137 shares.
Subsequently, on 9 February 2022, in view of the improved financial position of the Company, the Board of Directors of the Company
have approved the withdrawal of the rightsissue file from CMA.
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M ETHANOL CHEM ICALS COM PANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COM PANY) g

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS (& —

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEM BER 2021 CHEMAIIRSL
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated) e e B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND STATEMENT OF COM PLIANCE

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Sandards ("IFRS")
that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia ("KSA") and other standards and pronouncements that are endorsed by Saudi
Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants ("SOCPA") (collectively referred to as "IFRSas endorsed in KSA").

These financial statements are prepared using historical cost convention expect as otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies
below.

These financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals which is also the functional currency of the Company. All values are in Saudi
Riyals, except when otherwise indicated.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of financial statements of the Company are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except as disclosed in note 4.

Current versus non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. An asset
iscurrent when it is:

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

- Held primarily for the purpose of trading

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

- Cash or cash equivalent unlessrestricted from being exchanged or used to settle aliability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

Aliability is current when:
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
- It isdue to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
- There isno unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Fair value measurement
The Company measures financial instruments and non-financial assets at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement isbased on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset

or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Company.
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3. SUMM ARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The fair value of an asset or aliability is measured using the assumptionsthat market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as awhole:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market pricesin active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as awhole) at the end of each reporting period.

At each reporting date, the Company analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities, which are required to be
remeasured or re-assessed as per the Company’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Company verifies the major inputs applied
in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

The Company also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine
whether the change isreasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Revenue recognition

Sale of goods
The Company recognises revenue when control of the products sold, transfers to the customer, which shall be considered in the
context of afive-step approach and applying the applicable pricing terms.

Revenue from sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the ordinary course of the
Company’s activities. The Company recognises revenue when control of the goods has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the use or sale of such goods, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to the specific location
as per the terms of the contract, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Company has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

A receivable isrecognised when the goods are delivered as thisisthe point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time isrequired before the payment is due.

13



M ETHANOL CHEM ICALS COM PANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COM PANY) R—

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS s ==

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEM BER 2021 CHEMAMNSL
(All amountsin Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated) ﬂﬁﬁlﬁ.ﬁfﬁlﬁﬁu

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Variable pricing — preliminary pricing

Certain productsin certain markets may be sold with variable pricing arrangements. Such arrangementsdetermine that apreliminary
price is charged to the customer at the time of transfer of control of the products while the final price for the products can only be
determined by reference to atime period ending after that time. In such cases, and irrespective of the formula used for determining
preliminary and final prices, revenue is recorded at the time of transfer of control of the products at an amount representing the
expected final amount of consideration that the Company receives.

Where the Company records an ‘trade receivable’ for the preliminary price, subsequent changesin the estimated final price shall not
be recorded as revenue until such point in time at which the actual final price is determined (as long as these changes result from
changes in the market price/ market price index of the products). They may however be considered in subsequent re-measurement
as a financial asset at fair value. Such re-measurement may be recorded as a separate revenue.

All other updates to the preliminary price is recorded against revenue with the additional receivable amount recorded under a
contract asset or contract liability. Such contract asset or liability is derecognised against an trade receivable at the point in time at
which the actual final price is determined.

Finance income
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income isrecorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIRisthe
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income isincluded in finance income in the statement
of profit or loss.

Earnings on murabaha deposits are recognised on an accrual basis.

Expenses

Costs of sales

All expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. All operational expenses directly relating to the product sold are classified as cost of
sales. All other remaining expenses are either presented as general and administrative expenses or selling and distribution expenses.

General and administrative expenses
These pertain to operation expenses which are not directly related to the product sold. These also include allocations of general
overheads which are not specifically attributed to cost of product sold.

Selling and distribution expenses
These pertain to operation expenses which are directly relating to the selling and distribution activities such as freight cost, sales
commission, sales employee related expenses, etc.

Allocation of overheads between cost of sales, general and administrative and selling and distribution expenses, where required, is
made on factorsdetermined by the management and applied on a consistent basis.

Zakat and tax

Zakat

Zakat is provided in accordance with the Regulations of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“the ZATCA”) in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. Zakat provision is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Additional zakat, if any, is accounted for when determined to be
required for payment.

Withholding tax
The Company withholds taxes on certain transactions with non-resident parties in the KSA, as required under Saudi Arabian Income
Tax Law.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Zakat and tax (continued)

Value added tax
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax, except:
- When the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or servicesis not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which
case, the value added taxisrecognised aspart of the cost of acquisition of the asset or aspart of the expense item, as applicable.
- When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of value added tax included. The net amount of value added tax
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of
financial position.

Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“functional currency"). The financial statements are presented in "Saudi Riyals", which is the Company's
presentation as well as functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at the functional currency spot rates at the date the
transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary itemsthat are measured in termsof historical cost in aforeign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions.

Cash dividend and non-cash distribution to equity holders of the Company

The Company recognises a liability to make cash or non-cash distributionsto equity holders of the Company when the distribution is
authorised and the distribution isno longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the corporate laws in the KSA, a distribution is
authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.

Segment reporting

An operating segment isa component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, including revenues and expensesthat relate to transactions with any of the Company’s other components, and which are
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision M aker of the Company.

The Board of Directors of the Company have appointed a Chief Executive Officer, who assessesthe financial performance and position
of the Company, and makes strategic decisions. Chief Executive Officer has been identified as being the Chief Operating Decision
Maker.

The financial statements are prepared on the basis of a single reporting segment consistent with the information reviewed by the
Chief Operating Decision Maker of the Company.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account after zakat
and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such
costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to acquisition of the assets and borrowing costs for long-term construction
projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in
intervals, the Company recognizes and depreciates them separately based on its specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major
inspection isperformed, its cost isrecognized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the statement of income and other comprehensive
income asincurred.

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment qualify for recognition as property, plant and equipment when the Company expectstheir
useful life to be more than one year. Catalysts are treated as capital spares and are depreciated as and when put into use.

Depreciation is calculated from the date the item of property, plant and equipment are available for intended use or in respect of
self-constructed assets, from the date such assets are completed and ready for the intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets, asfollows:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 5to 33 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 3to 35 years
Furniture, fixture and office equipment 31to 10 years
Vehicles 4 years

Planned turnaround costs are deferred and depreciated over the period until the date of the next planned turnaround. Should an
unexpected turnaround occur prior to the previously envisaged date of planned turnaround, the previously undepreciated costs are
immediately expensed, and the new turnaround costs are depreciated over the period until the date of the next planned turnaround.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively in case of a significant
change in the assets technological capabilities or estimated planned use, at each financial year-end.

Assets in the course of construction or development are capitalised in as construction-in-progress account. The asset under
construction or development is transferred to the appropriate category in property, plant and equipment, once the asset isin a
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The cost of an item of
construction-in-progress comprises its purchase price, construction/development cost and any other cost directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Construction-in-progress is not depreciated.

Leases

At the inception of the contract the Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease. That is, if the contract conveysthe
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease agreementsin which it isthe lessee, except for short-term leases
(defined asleaseswith alease term of twelve monthsor less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Company recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use
the underlying assets.

16



M ETHANOL CHEM ICALS COM PANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COM PANY) ) »-»-aW

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS usS=2 Lol
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEM BER 2021 CHEMAIIRSL
(All amountsin Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated) ﬂ?ﬁlﬁjf.ﬂhuﬁfu:ﬁuﬁﬁu

3. SUMM ARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Company as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities
The lease liability is initially measured at the net present value of the lease payments payable at the commencement date of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which
is the case for the Company’s leases, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company:

- where possible, uses recent third-party quotations which are adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since such
quotations were received; and

- makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example lease term, country, currency and security.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
- amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of purchase options, if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise the options;

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease and;
- lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest rate method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made.

The Company re-measuresthe lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease
liability isre-measured by discounting the revised lease paymentsusing a revised discount rate;

- the lease payments change due to changesin an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);
and

- alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability
is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Company as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement of the lease and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost lessaccumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove aleased asset, restore the site on which it islocated
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under IAS37 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets”. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unlessthose costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term or the economic useful life of the underlying asset. If
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company
expectsto exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the date when the asset isready for use. Shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets
for the computation of the depreciation asfollows:

Land 17 to 24 years
Warehouses and storage tanks 3to 7 years

The Company applies IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Variable lease payments
If leases contain variable payments that are linked to the usage / performance of the leased asset. Such payments are recognised
in statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

Sgnificant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Company determinesthe lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option
to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is
reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has the option, under some of its leases to renew the leases at the end of lease term. The Company applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economicincentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Company reassessesthe lease
term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to
exercise) the option to renew (e.g., achange in business strategy).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be finite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life isreviewed at least at the end of each annual reporting period. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful liveswhich are between 4 to 20 years.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changesin accounting estimates.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite livesis charged to profit or loss in the expense category consistent with
the function of the intangible asset.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the disposal proceeds
and carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and iswritten down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are charged to profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.

The Company bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately
for each of the Company’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally
cover aperiod of five years. Along-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

For assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss isreversed only if there hasbeen a change in the assumptions used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually at the CGU level, as appropriate, and when
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised
during the period of time that isrequired to complete and prepare the asset for itsintended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing costs are charged to profit or lossin the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments - Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to afinancial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument
of another entity.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCl), and
fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the Company initially measures a financial
asset at itsfair value plus, in the case of afinancial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under IFRS15.

In order for afinancial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred
to asthe SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refersto how it manages its financial assetsin order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assetsthat require delivery of assets within atime frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

- Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
- Financial assets designated at fair value through OCl with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
- derecognition (equity instruments)

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category is most relevant to the Company. Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective
interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired. The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost principally includestrade receivables.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCl. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
OClisrecycled to profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments — Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at
fair value through OCl when they meet the definition of equity under IAS32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held
for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Gains and losses on these financial assets are
never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCl. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not
subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. No assets under this category at reporting date.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
- The Company hastransferred its rightsto receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flowsin full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either;
(a) the Company hastransferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but hastransferred
control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred itsrights to receive cash flowsfrom an asset or hasentered into a pass- through arrangement,
it evaluatesif, and to what extent, it hasretained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continuesto recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflectsthe rights and obligations that the Company has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets
The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL") associated with its financial assets. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Company appliesthe simplified approach as permitted by IFRS9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from the initial recognition of the related financial assets. The amount of lossis charged to profit or loss.
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SUM M ARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments — Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The loss rates are based on probability of default based on historical trendsrelating to collections of Company’s trade receivables.
The loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The Company has identified the expected weighted average rate of increase in inflation
for the upcoming year in the regions where its sales are concentrated as the most relevant factor and accordingly, adjusts the loss
rates based on such expected changes.

Trade receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, significant decrease in credit worthiness of the customer, the failure of the
customer to engage in a repayment plan with the Company, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater
than 365 days past due.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment wasrecognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

While cash and cash equivalents and other receivables are also subject to impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified
impairment losswasimmaterial.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilitiesare classified, at initial recognition, asfinancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, borrowings, payables,
or asderivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.
The Company'’s financial liabilities include trade payables, accruals and other current liabilities, borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteriain IFRS
9 are satisfied. The Company has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments — Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Borrowings)

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised aswell asthrough the EIRamortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included asfinance costsin the statement of profit or loss. This category generally applies
to interest-bearing borrowings.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amountsis recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and net amountsare reported in the financial statements, when the Company has alegally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on anet basis, or to realise the assets and liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and condition are accounted for, asfollows:

Raw materials, consumables and spare parts: purchase cost on weighted average basis.

Finished goods: cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on the normal operating
capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Provision for slow moving inventories are made considering various factorsincluding
age of the inventory items, historic usage and expected utilization in future.

Provision for inventory obsolescence

When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate is made for their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts,
thisamount is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are
assessed collectively, and an allowance applied according to the inventory type and degree of ageing or obsolescence.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are carried at the transaction price related to a performance obligation less allowance for ECL on trade
receivables. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets. The Company holds trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them at amortised cost using effective interest rate method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits include placements in murabaha deposits with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments, with
original maturities of more than three months but not more than one year from the date of acquisition. Short-term deposits are
placed with financial institutions with investment grade rating, which are considered to have low credit risk, hence a provision, if
material, is recognised at an amount equal to twelve months’ expected credit loss, unless there is evidence of significant increase
in credit risk of the counter party.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalentsin the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
short-term deposits, as defined above. Bank overdrafts, if any, are shown within borrowings under current liabilities in the
statement of financial position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction from the proceeds.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Saudi Arabian Regulations for Companies, the Company must set aside 10% of itsincome for the year after
deducting losses brought forward in each year until it has built up areserve equal to 30% of the capital. The Company may resolve
to discontinue such transferswhen the reserve totals 30% of the capital. The reserve is not available for distribution.

Employee benefit obligations

Employees’ defined benefit plan

The Company operates a single post-employment benefit scheme of defined benefit plan driven by the labor laws and workman
laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia which isbased on most recent salary and number of service years.

The post-employment benefit scheme is not funded. Valuation of the obligations under the plan is carried out by an independent
actuary based on the projected unit credit method. The costs relating to such plan primarily consist of the present value of the
benefits attributed on an equal basis to each year of service and the interest on this obligation in respect of employee service in
previous years.

Current and past service costs related to post-employment benefits and unwinding of the liability at discount rates used are
charged to profit or loss.

Re-measurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and transferred to retained earningsin the statement of changesin equity in the period in
which they occur.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are charged to
profit or loss as past service costs. End of service payments are based on employees’ final salaries and allowances and their
cumulative years of service, as stated in the labor laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating leaves, air fare and other allowancesthat are
expected to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employeesrender the related service
are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefits in accruals and other current
liabilities.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and areliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of aprovision to be reimbursed, for example
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of
any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position. They are disclosed unlessthe possibility of an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefitsisremote. Liabilities which are probable are recorded in statement of financial position
under accounts payable and accruals. A contingent asset is not recognised in the statement of financial position but disclosed when
an inflow of economic benefitsis probable.

4. CHANGESIN ACCOUNTING POLICES

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021. The Company has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued
but isnot yet effective.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendmentsto IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is
replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The amendments include the following practical expedients:

- A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flowsthat are directly required by the reform, to be
treated as changesto a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest.

- Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without the hedging
relationship being discontinued.

- Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFRinstrument is
designated as a hedge of a risk component.

These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Company intends to use the practical
expedientsin future periods if they become applicable.

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to IFRS 16

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The amendments provide
relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent
concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments
resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change
were not a lease modification.

The amendment wasintended to apply until 30 June 2021, but asthe impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is continuing, on 31 March
2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient to 30 June 2022. The amendment applies to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. However, the Company has not received Covid-19-related rent concessions,
but plans to apply the practical expedient if it becomes applicable within allowed period of application.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEM ENTS, ESTIM ATES AND ASSUM PTIONS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia requires
management to make judgements estimates and assumptionsthat affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in
future periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Management tests assets or CGUs for impairment whenever impairment indicators exist. Among others, the events or changesin
circumstances which could indicate that an asset or CGUs may be impaired mainly include the following:

- A significant decrease in the market prices of Company’s products;

- A significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is being used or in its physical condition including a significant
decrease in current and projected sales volumes; and

- A current-period operating loss combined with a history and forecast of operating losses.

During the year, the management identified volatile market situation driven from the uncertainty surrounding the new COVID
variants, recent developments of the industry, forecasted demand and pricing of the Company’s products asimpairment indicators
and determined the recoverable amounts of the CGUs. The recoverable amount of the CGUs were determined based on the value
in use method. These calculations require use of estimates in relation to the future cash flows and use of an appropriate discount
rate and growth rate applicable to the Company.

Future events could cause the estimates used in these value-in-use calculations to change adversely with a consequent effect on
the future results of the Company. Also see note 13.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate is made
of their net realisable value. For individually significant amountsthisestimation isperformed on an individual basis. Amountswhich
are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the
inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on anticipated selling prices.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The management determinesthe estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for calculating
depreciation. Thisestimate isdetermined after consideringthe expected usage of the asset or physical wear and tear. Management
reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would be adjusted where the management
believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.

Provisions

By their nature, provisions are dependent upon estimates and assessments whether the criteria for recognition have been met,
including estimates of the probability of cash outflows. Management’s estimates related to provisions for environmental matters
are based on the nature and seriousness of the contamination, as well as on the technology required for clean up. Provisions for
litigation are based on an estimate of the costs, taking into account legal advice and other information presently available.
Provisions for termination benefits and exit costs, if any, also involve management’s judgement in estimating the expected cash
outflows for severance payments and site closures or other exit costs. Provisions for uncertain liabilities involve management’s
best estimate of whether cash outflows are probable.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEM ENTS, ESTIM ATES AND ASSUM PTIONS (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segmentsthat have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit).

The provision matrixisinitially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaultsin the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Company’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Company’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 17.

Leases- Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBRisthe rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term,
and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the
IBRusing observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and isrequired to make certain entity-specific estimates.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and terminations options

The Company determinesthe lease term as non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to
extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is
reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Company has several lease contracts that include extension and termination clauses.
The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. The Company considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to
terminate the contract. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as part of the lease term only when
they are reasonably certain not to be exercised

Valuation of defined benefit obligations

Employee terminal benefitsrepresent obligations that will be settled in the future and require assumptionsto project obligations
and fair values. The accounting requires management to make further assumptionsregarding variables such asdiscount rates, rate
of compensation increases, mortality rates and employment turnover. Periodically, management of the Company consults with
external actuariesregarding these assumptions. Changesin key assumptions can have a significant impact on the projected benefit
obligations and/or periodic employee defined benefit costsincurred. Further details about employee benefit are provided in note
24.
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6. NEW IFRS STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the
Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these new and amended standards and
interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendmentsto IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the IASBissued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS1 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

- What is meant by a right to defer settlement

- That aright to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must be applied
retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice and whether existing
borrowing agreements may require renegotiation.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to IFRS3

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual Framework. The
amendments are intended to replace areference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Satements,
issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements.

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS3to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS37 or IFRIC21 Levies, if incurred separately.

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that would not be affected by
replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and apply prospectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use - Amendmentsto IAS 16

In May 2020, the IASBissued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be applied retrospectively
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when

the entity first appliesthe amendment.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company.
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6. NEW IFRS STANDARDS, AMENDM ENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Onerous Contracts— Costs of Fulfilling a Contract - Amendmentsto IAS 37
In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a
contract is onerous or loss-making.

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services
include both incremental costs and an allocation of costsdirectly related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unlessthey are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Company will apply these
amendmentsto contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
it first applies the amendments.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments— Feesin the 10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS9. The amendment
clarifies the feesthat an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the termsof the original financial liability. These feesinclude only those paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’sbehalf. An entity appliesthe amendment
to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first appliesthe amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted.
The Company will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first appliesthe amendment.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting estimates’. The
amendmentsclarify the distinction between changesin accounting estimates and changesin accounting policies and the correction
of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periodsbeginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changesin accounting
policies and changesin accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted as long
as thisfact isdisclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies- Amendmentsto IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In February 2021, the IASBissued amendmentsto IAS1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making M ateriality Judgements, in which it
provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments
aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosuresthat are more useful by replacing the requirement for entitiesto disclose
their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on
how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendmentsto IAS1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted.
Sincethe amendmentsto the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the application of the definition of material
to accounting policy information, an effective date for these amendmentsis not necessary.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on the Company’s
accounting policy disclosures.
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

7. REVENUE

The Company’s entire revenue is generated from the sale of petrochemical products which isrecognised at a point in time.

2021 2020

Export sales 843,479,995 376,904,857
Local sales 166,068,021 118,804,410
1,009,548,016 495,709,267

The Company does not expect to have any contractswhere the period between the transfer of goodsto the customer and payment
by the customer exceeds one year, and accordingly, the transaction prices are not adjusted for the time value of money.

As per the contracts with the customers, there is no financing, non-cash consideration or consideration payable to customers
involved in transaction price.

There were no significant returns, refunds and warranties provided by the Company on sale of its products. The contract liability
balance only relates to advances from customers as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Revenue recognised, during the year, that was included in the contract liability at the beginning of the year ended 31 December
2021 amounted to Saudi Riyals 3.7 million (2020: Saudi Riyals 4.0 million).

8. COST OF SALES

Note 2021 2020
Raw materials and consumables used 312,339,712 226,196,849
Salaries, wages and benefits 117,070,545 105,550,862
Depreciation 13, 14 109,529,747 119,761,094
Repairs and maintenance 18,567,938 13,569,892
Insurance 11,826,653 9,756,567
Amortisation 15 623,155 1,298,608
Other 1,520,633 1,649,589
571,478,383 477,783,461

9. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES
Note 2021 2020
Freight cost 55,427,492 36,725,654
Salaries and benefits 9,576,249 8,534,557
Sales commission 6,681,684 2,275,280
Depreciation 13, 14 735,309 803,994
Other 5,853,517 5,966,334
78,274,251 54,305,819
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10. GENERAL AND ADM INISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Note 2021 2020
Salaries and benefits 22,646,225 19,043,897
Information and technology consultancy services 7,834,578 8,709,420
Professional and legal fees 3,009,780 1,334,852
Board of directors’ fees 27 2,390,840 2,021,140
Depreciation 13 961,906 1,138,199
Repairs and maintenance 894,343 1,934,675
Amortisation 15 823,170 29,994
Other 5,331,905 3,418,854
43,892,747 37,631,031
11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES - NET
2021 2020
Bank charges 4,251,002 3,944,486
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 3,594,929 360,838
Scrap sales (5,871,754) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1,055,798
Other, net 2,660,220 (54,143)
4,634,397 5,306,979
12. FINANCE COSTS
Note 2021 2020
Finance costs on borrowings 23 23,571,905 29,308,714
Amortisation of transaction costs 23 1,340,127 2,561,134
Finance costs on lease liabilities 14 1,302,565 1,365,120
Gain on modification of terms of long-term borrowing agreements 23 (2,461,485) -
23,753,112 33,234,968
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METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,

Buildings and Plant, i Planned L,
leasehold machinery and flxture‘.s and turnaround Vehicles Construction-in- Total
improvements equipment offlce costs progress
equipment
Cost
At 1 January 2021 358,645,667 2,750,677,685 27,174,799 51,005,056 3,220,360 17,374,770 3,208,098,337
Additions - 13,589,159 363,762 9,216,704 - 5,301,231 28,470,856
Write-offs (157,028) (7,837,383) (47,970) - - - (8,042,381)
Transfers - 2,741,612 1,100,087 239,187 - (5,193,883) (1,112,997
At 31 December 2021 358,488,639 2,759,171,073 28,590,678 60,460,947 3,220,360 17,482,118 3,227,413,815
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

At 1 January 2021 (159,742,131) (1,664,623,515) (25,855,163) (27,256,473) (2,864,523) - (1,880,341,805)
Additions (8,986,241) (85,154,496) (712,139) (14,281,926) (122,000) - (109,256,802)
Write-offs 104,658 4,294,825 47,970 - - - 4,447,453
Impairment (6,237,794) (17,591,624) (4,537) - - - (23,833,955)
At 31 December 2021 (174,861,508) (1,763,074,810) (26,523,869) (41,538,399) (2,986,523) - (2,008,985,109)
Net book value
As at 31 December 21 183,627,131 996,096,263 2,066,809 18,922,548 233,837 17,482,118 1,218,428,706
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Buildings and Plant, f;‘:’;g::: d Planned Construction-in-
leasehold machinery and R turnaround Vehicles Total
) ) office progress
improvements equipment equipment costs
Cost
At 1 January 2020 365,749,596 2,796,106,968 30,254,512 91,125,381 3,927,760 24,666,953 3,311,831,170
Additions 14,400 15,984,000 406,454 11,337,931 - 10,609,183 38,351,968
Disposals - (1,633,390) (845,983) (1,218,587) (707,400) - (4,405,360)
Write-offs (7,271,734) (71,995,266) (2,640,184) (55,584,632) - (187,625) (137,679,441)
Transfers 153,405 12,215,373 - 5,344,963 - (17,713,741) -
At 31 December 2020 358,645,667 2,750,677,685 27,174,799 51,005,056 3,220,360 17,374,770 3,208,098,337
Accumulated depreciation and
_impairment
At 1 January 2020 (138,256,869) (1,509,927,580) (28,593,253) (69,559,659) (3,375,836) - (1,749,713,197)
Additions (9,917,227) (94,805,338) (729,672) (13,951,656) (196,082) - (119,599,975)
Disposals - 979,012 830,343 670,223 707,395 - 3,186,973
Write-offs 7,101,310 71,995,255 2,637,419 55,584,619 - - 137,318,603
Impairment (18,669,345) (132,864,864) - - - - (151,534,209)
At 31 December 2020 (159,742,131) (1,664,623,515) (25,855,163) (27,256,473) (2,864,523) - (1,880,341,805)
Net book value
As at 31 December 2020 198,903,536 1,086,054,170 1,319,636 23,748,583 355,837 17,374,770 1,327,756,532
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

a) Construction-in-progress balance as at 31 December 2021 principally represents costsincurred on certain expansion projects.
The Company expects such projects to be completed in 2022.

b) The Company’'sproduction facilitiesare constructed on parcels of land leased from the Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu
(the “Royal Commission”) at annual rent for the periods ranging from 10 to 30 Hijri years with an option to renew on similar
termsupon expiry.

¢) The accumulated impairment as at 31 December 2021 amounts to Saudi Riyals 340.5 (2020: Saudi Riyals: 316.7 million)

d) The Company’s property, plant and equipment with the net book value of Saudi Riyals 1,218.4 million (2020: Saudi Riyals
1,327.8 million) are mortgaged against the long-term borrowings, see note 23.

e) Impairment loss

As explained in the note 1, management has assessed volatile market situation driven from the uncertainty surrounding the new
COVID variants, recent developments of the industry, forecasted demand and pricing of the Company’s products as impairment
indicators. Accordingly, management performed a detailed impairment assessment for all its plants, considered as separate CGUs,
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 and updated the value-in-use workings for the non-currents related to its CGUs based on the
updated business plans and concluded that it isno longer viable to continue with two product lines of the Company. Such exercise
resulted in impairment loss in the years 2021 and 2020 on the following CGUs where the recoverable amounts of their non-
currents were lower than their carrying amounts:

- Resin Melamine resin Powder (“MF Resin”)

- Resin Urea Formaldehyde Resins (“UF Resin”)

- Methanol

- Penta Aritheretol (“PENTA”)

- Hexane Methylene Tetramine (“HMT”)
- Sulphonated Naphthalene Formaldehyde - Powder, Concrete Improvers (“SNF-P”)

- Paraformaldehyde (“PARA”)

The carrying amounts, recoverable amounts and resultant impairment loss were as follows:

2021 2020
Carrying Recoverable Carrying Recoverable
amount of amount Impairment amount of amount Impairment
CGU CGU (value-in-use) loss CGU (value-in-use) loss
MF Resin 9,024,864 - 9,024,864 - - -
UF Resin 15,979,737 - 15,979,737 - - -
Methanol - - - 613,568,644 522,358,976 91,209,668
PENTA - - - 161,537,308 118,707,283 42,830,025
HMT - - - 17,049,022 10,683,840 6,365,182
SNF-P - - - 8,756,380 3,729,591 5,026,789
PARA - - - 35,000,493 23,333,618 11,666,875
25,004,601 - 25,004,601 835,911,847 678,813,308 157,098,539
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
e) Impairment loss (continued)

The impairment loss in each of the years has been allocated as follows:

Class of assets M F Resin UF Resin Total

2021

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings and leasehold improvements 6,223,170 14,624 6,237,794

Plant, machinery and equipment 9,137,145 8,454,479 17,591,624

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 2,630 1,907 4,537

Right-of-use assets 616,792 553,854 1,170,646
15,979,737 9,024,864 25,004,601

Class of assets M ethanol PENTA HMT SNF-P PARA Total

2020

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings and leasehold

improvements 12,833,200 5,364,559 - - 471,586 18,669,345

Plant, machinery
and equipment 77,426,473 36,704,990 3,291,053 4,568,163 10,874,185 132,864,864
Right-of-use assets 949,995 760,476 924,254 458,626 321,104 3,414,455
Intangible assets - - 2,149,875 - - 2,149,875
91,209,668 42,830,025 6,365,182 5,026,789 11,666,875 157,098,539

As at 31 December 2021, the recoverable amounts of the non-current assets related to the remaining CGUs were higher than
their carrying amounts.

The estimates and assumptions used by the Company’s management for the value-in-use calculations were as follows:
- Projected cash flows using approved five-year business plans;
- The discount rate used was approximately 9.7% (2020: 10.3%) based on post-tax weighted average cost of capital;
- A growth rate of 2%(2020: 2.0%) considered to project certain cash flows beyond the period covered by the five-year business
plans; and
- Expected product prices over the period considered for management’s assessment.
- Management has performed sensitivity analyses around the key estimates and assumptions and believes that:
- A 1% change in the discount rate will not result any change in the impairment loss of for the year (2020: Saudi Riyals 4.3

million); and
- A 1% change in the forecasted prices will not result any change in the impairment loss for the year (2020: Saudi Riyals 15.9
million).

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice,
thisisunlikely to occur, and changesin some of the assumptions may be correlated.

Management of the Company has considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other estimates and assumptions and
has not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amounts of any CGUs non-current assets to exceed their
recoverable amounts.
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14. LEASES
Right-of-use assets
Land Warehousesand Total
storage tanks
2021
Cost
1 January and 31 December 25,712,372 3,846,358 29,558,730
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 (6,004,478) (1,660,986) (7,665,464)
Additions (1,139,667) (830,493) (1,970,160)
Impairment (1,170,646) (1,170,646)
At 31 December 2021 (8,314,791) (2,491,479) (10,806,270)
Net book value
As at 31 December 2021 17,397,581 1,354,879 18,752,460
Land Warehousesand Total
storage tanks
2020
Cost
1 January and 31 December 25,712,372 3,846,358 29,558,730
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 (1,317,204) (830,493) (2,147,697)
Additions (1,272,819) (830,493) (2,103,312)
Impairment (3,414,455) (3,414,455)
At 31 December 2020 (6,004,478) (1,660,986) (7,665,464)
Net book value
As at 31 December 2020 19,707,894 2,185,372 21,893,266
Also see note 13.
2021 2020
Lease liabilities
As at 1 January 24,100,746 26,791,217
Finance cost 1,302,565 1,365,120
Repayments* (805,801) (4,055,591)
As at 31 December 24,597,510 24,100,746
*Certain lease instalments due during the year were settled by the Company in 2020.
Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
Non-current liabilities 23,360,258 22,924,115
Current liabilities 1,237,252 1,176,631
24,597,510 24,100,746

Maturity profile of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 29.

36



M ETHANOL CHEM ICALS COM PANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COM PANY) ._T_”-.E_\'""’
NOTESTO THE FINANGIAL STATEM ENTS usSes 1 —
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEM BER 2021 CHEMANSL

Joiliooll OlbloaS dSpan

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated) METHANOL CHEMICALS COMPANY

14. LEASES (continued)

15.

i)  The accumulated impairment as at 31 December 2021 amountsto Saudi Riyals 4.6 million (2020: Saudi Riyals: 3.4 million)
ii)  Other amounts recognised in profit and loss

Expense relating to short-term and low-value leases (included in selling and marketing and general and administrative expenses)
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to Saudi Riyals 1.7 million (2020: Saudi Riyals 1.8 million).

The total cash outflow for leasesin 2021 was Saudi Riyals 2.5 million (2020: Saudi Riyals 5.7 million).
iif)  Additional information about the Company’s leasing activities

The Company hasleasesin respect of variousparcels of land, awarehouse facility and a storage tank. Rental contractsare typically
made for fixed periods but may have extension options.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Low-value assets comprise computer and technology equipment and certain storage tanks.
Extension and termination options are included to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Company’soperations. The majority of extension options held are exercisable only by mutual agreement of the Company and the

respective lessor.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Payment to
acquire
Computer contractual rights
software of pipeline Total
2021
Cost
1 January 23,341,098 15,750,000 39,091,098
Additions during the year 4,374,802 - 4,374,802
Transfersfrom construction-in-progress 1,112,997 - 1,112,997
Write-offs (1,009,555) - (1,009,555)
31 December 27,819,342 15,750,000 43,569,342
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
1 January (23,284,924) (10,363,499) (33,648,423)
Charge (879,325) (567,000) (1,446,325)
Write-offs 1,009,554 - 1,009,554
31 December (23,154,695) (10,930,499) (34,085,194)
Net book value
31 December 4,664,647 4,819,501 9,484,148
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15. INANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Payment to
Computer acquire contractual
software rights of pipeline Total
2020
Cost
1 January and 31 December 23,341,098 15,750,000 39,091,098
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
1 January (22,688,696) (7,481,250) (30,169,946)
Charge (596,228) (732,374) (1,328,602)
Impairment - (2,149,875) (2,149,875)
31 December (23,284,924) (10,363,499) (33,648,423)
Net book value
31 December 56,174 5,386,501 5,442,675
Also see Note 13.
16. INVENTORIES
2021 2020
Consumables and spare parts, held not for sale 75,547,669 72,414,851
Finished products 27,878,791 12,671,347
Raw materials 21,633,085 15,033,505
Goods-in-transit 18,410,289 20,232,872
Other 3,770,732 3,007,544
147,240,566 123,360,119
Less: provision for slow-moving inventories (36,614,145) (24,844,070)
110,626,421 98,516,049

Finished products as at 31 December 2021 have been written-down by Saudi Riyals 0.7 million (2020: Saudi Riyals 1.2 million) to
bring them to their net realisable values. The resulting loss has been charged to "Cost of sales" in the statement of comprehensive

income.

The movement in provision for slow-moving inventoriesis as follows:

1 January
Provision

31 December

2021 2020
24,844,070 23,676,391
11,770,075 1,167,679
36,614,145 24,844,070
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Note 2021 2020

Trade receivables 298,673,939 119,003,490
Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables 17.2 (1,616,356) (1,564,645)
297,057,583 117,438,845

17.1 The Company has assessed expected lifetime losses pertaining to trade receivables as per the simplified approach as
permitted by IFRS 9. Trade receivables are due based on individual credit terms of each customer. There were no
contracts with a significant financing component or variable consideration during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020. As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables of Saudi Riyals 50.4 million (2020: Saudi Riyals 18.4 million) were
past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of individual customers for whom there is no history of default.
Aging profile of trade receivables is as follows:

2021 2020

Current 248,285,645 100,624,572
Up to 3 months 47,380,521 16,687,896
4 to 6 months 1,481,339 160,968
7 to 12 months 258,702 72,033
Over 12 months 1,267,732 1,458,021
298,673,939 119,003,490

The Company considers any trade receivables overdue for more than a year to be in default and are accordingly fully provided
for. The expected credit loss rates for the other aging brackets are not significant.

17.2 The movement in allowance for ECL on trade receivablesis as follows:

2021 2020
1 January 1,564,645 1,714,645
Charge (reversal) 113,816 (150,000)
Write-off (62,105) -
31 December 1,616,356 1,564,645

17.3 The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is the carrying amount of each receivable. The Company does not
hold any collateral as security.

18. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2021 2020

Margin Deposits 23,387,867 4,782,575
Prepayments 7,540,631 6,301,980
Advancesto suppliers 6,028,035 2,243,227
Advancesto employees 4,257,795 4,814,580
Other 17,764,072 4,630,744
58,978,400 22,773,106
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19. SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS
Short-term deposits consist of murabaha deposits placed with commercial banks with a term of more than 90 days up to one
year from original placement date and are denominated in Saudi Riyals and yield finance income at rates ranging from 0.55%to

0.75%per annum. (2020: 1.95%t0 2.01% per annum).

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
Cash in hand 41,000 -
Cash at bank 35,198,057 23,082,213
Time deposits 45,000,000 61,000,000

80,239,057 84,082,213

Time deposits are murabaha deposits placed with commercial banks, with a maturity period of three months or less from date
of placement, and yield finance income at rates ranging from 0.30% to 0.72% per annum (2020: 0.25%t0 2.00% per annum).

21. SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2021, the authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital comprised 67.5 million (2020: 120.6 million)
ordinary shares of Saudi Riyals 10 per share. Also see note 1 “Equity restructuring”.

22. STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with the Company’s By-laws and Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Company is
required to transfer 10% of the net profit for the year to a statutory reserve until such reserve equals 30% of its share capital.
The Company may resolve to discontinue such transferswhen the reserve totals 30% of the capital. This reserve is not available
for distribution to the shareholders of the Company.

23. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

2021 2020
Saudi Industrial Development Fund (“SDF’) 245,000,000 245,000,000
Murabaha Facilities 427,720,080 486,497,450
672,720,080 731,497,450
Accrued finance costs 1,175,593 3,236,006
Less: unamortised transaction costs (8,689,500) (2,541,934)
665,206,173 732,191,522
Long-term borrowings are presented in the
statement of financial position asfollows:
Long-term borrowings 420,292,715 R
Current portion of long-term borrowings 244,913,458 732,191,522
665,206,173 732,191,522
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23. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (continued)

23.1

23.2

Movement in long-term borrowingsis as follows:

Note 2021 2020
1 &anuary 732,191,522 732,249,618
Finance costsfor the year 12 23,571,905 29,308,714
Amortisation of transaction costs 12 1,340,127 2,561,134
Gain on modification of terms of long-term borrowing
agreements 12 (2,461,485) -
Less: repayment of principal (58,777,370) (3,750,000)
Less: repayment of finance costs (30,658,526) (28,177,944)
31 December 665,206,173 732,191,522

SIDF borrowing

The borrowing agreement with SIDF provided for a borrowing of Saudi Riyals 600 million to finance expansion and construction
of the Company’s production facilities, which was fully drawn by June 2010 due in March and September 2020. Up-front and
annual administrative fees were charged by SIDF under the borrowing agreement. In March 2021, the Company signed a
restructuring agreement with SIDF to principally reschedule the repayment of the principal amount of borrowing from 2021 to
2022. Such restructuring did not result in substantial modification of the terms of the previousborrowing agreement. The carrying
amount of the borrowing was adjusted, as per the restructured terms, which resulted in a loss of Saudi Riyals 0.4 million. In
February 2022, SIDF agreed, based on the Company’s request to reschedule the instalment due in March 2022 to June 2022. In
2020, due to breach of loan covenant of long-term borrowings, the entire outstanding balance was classified under current
liabilities.

The covenants of the SDF borrowing require the Company to maintain certain level of financial conditions, limiting dividends
distribution and annual capital expenditure above certain limits and certain other matters. The borrowing is secured by a
mortgage of the property, plant and equipment of the Company at 31 December 2021 (note 13). The carrying value of the SDF
borrowing is denominated in Saudi Riyals. At 31 December 2021, the Company was compliant with covenants related to the
Murabaha facilities.

M urabaha facilities

During 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with a syndicate of banks, namely, Arab Banking Corporation (B.SC), Riyad
Bank, Samba Financial Group, Saudi Hollandi Bank, National Commercial Bank and Saudi British Bank (collectively “Murabaha
Facility Participants”) to provide Murabaha Facilities for financing of expansion projects. These borrowings bear finance costs
based on prevailing market rates which are based on Saudi inter-bank offered rates. As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate
maturities of these borrowings are spread in 2021 through 2022. In 2020, due to breach of loan covenant of long-term borrowings,
the entire outstanding balance was classified under current liabilities.

In February 2021, the Company signed a restructuring agreement with the lender institutions to principally reschedule the
repayment of the principal amount of borrowing from 2021 through 2022 to 2021 through 2028. Such restructuring did not result
in substantial modification of the termsof the original borrowing agreement. The carrying amount of the borrowing was adjusted,
as per therestructured terms, which resulted in a gain of Saudi Riyals 2.9 million.

The covenantsof the borrowing facilities require the Company to maintain certain level of financial conditions, limiting dividends
distribution and annual capital expenditure above certain limits and certain other matters. The borrowing is secured by a
mortgage of the property, plant and equipment of the Company at 31 December 2021 (note 13). The carrying values of such long-
term borrowings are denominated in Saudi Riyals. At 31 December 2021, the Company was compliant with covenantsrelated to
the Murabaha facilities.
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23. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (continued)
23.3 M aturity profile of long-term borrowings
The restructured maturity profile of long-term borrowings is as follows:
Years ending 31 December:
2022 246,175,593
2023 19,009,781
2024 33,267,117
2025 38,019,563
2026 42,772,008
Thereafter 294,651,611
673,895,673

24. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

241 General description of the plan

The Company operates an unfunded defined benefit plan in line with the labour law requirement in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
The end of service benefit payments under the plan are based on the employees' final salaries and allowances and their
cumulative years of service at the date of their termination of employment, as defined by the conditions stated in the labour laws
of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The benefit payments are due upon termination of or resignation from employment. An
independent actuary carried out latest valuation of employee benefit obligations under the projected unit credit method as at 31

December 2021 for the Company.

1 January

Current service cost

Interest expense

Payments

Transferred to accrued expenses
Remeasurements

31 December

24.2 Amountsrecognised in the statement of comprehensive income

2021 2020
48,892,233 47,725,116
5,173,883 5,452,599
1,265,419 1,537,489
(3,821,370) (4,541,823)
(228,331) (467,876)
3,994,714 (813,272)
55,276,548 48,892,233

The amountsrecognised in the statement of comprehensive income related to employee benefit obligations are as follows:

Current service cost

Interest expense

Total amount charged to profit or loss
Remeasurements

(Loss)/ gain from change in financial assumptions
Gain from change in experience adjustments

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income

2021 2020
(5,173,883) (5,452,599)
(1,265,419) (1,537,489)
(6,439,302) (6,990,088)
(4,834,313) 104,325

839,599 708,947
(3,994,714) 813,272
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24. EM PLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
243 Key actuarial assumptions
2021 2020
Discount rate 2.96% 2.70%
3.20% 2.00%

Salary growth rate

24.4 Sensitivity analysis for actuarial assumptions

Change in assumption

Impact on employee benefit obligations

Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption assumption
2021
Discount rate 1% 1% (5,178,004) 6,078,627
Salary growth rate 1% 1% 6,001,363 (5,214,489)
Change in assumption Impact on employee benefit obligations
Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in
assumption assumption assumption assumption
2020
Discount rate 1% 1% (4,276,487) 5,227,352
Salary growth rate 1% 1% 5,211,188 (4,344,606)

The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined
benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of defined benefit obligation calculated
with projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as calculating the employee benefits

obligation.

245 Expected maturity analysis

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 9 years (2020: 10 years). The expected maturity analysis of

undiscounted employee benefits obligationsis as follows:

Between 1 - 2 Between2-5

Lessthan a year years years
2021 3,302,834 3,467,596 13,992,237
2020 3,203,797 3,436,132 11,468,606

25. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables

Over 5 years Total
166,511,866 187,274,533
136,277,400 154,385,935
2021 2020
32,251,347 25,909,812
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26. ACCRUALS AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILTIES

2021 2020

Accrued expenses 78,761,380 57,452,262
Advances from customers 7,515,992 3,683,873
Other 140,508 140,508
86,417,880 61,276,643

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties represent shareholders, directors, the key management of the Company, and entities controlled or significantly
influenced by such parties (“other related parties”).

(a) Significant transactions entered by the Company with its related parties comprise of costs and expenses charged by other
related parties amounting to Saudi Riyals 54,339 (2020: Saudi Riyals 81,104).

(b) Key management personnel compensation

2021 2020

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 5,653,719 6,733,125
Employee benefit obligations 212,887 179,137
5,866,606 6,912,262

(c) Board of directors’ compensation

Duringthe year ended 31 December 2021, the Board of directors’ compensation amounted to Saudi Riyals 2.4 million (2020: Saudi
Riyals 2.0 million).

28. ZAKAT
28.1 Significant components of zakat base
2021 2020
Shareholders’ equity at beginning of year 778,531,733 1,053,812,764
Adjusted net loss 280,660,209 (266,131,437)
Long-term borrowings 665,206,173 732,191,522
Property, plant and equipment, as adjusted (1,218,428,706) (1,327,756,532)
Other (11,400,764) (4,596,139)
Estimated zakat base 494,568,645 187,520,178

Zakat is payable at 2.578% of the zakat base, excluding adjusted profit for the year. Zakat on adjusted profit for the year is payable
at 2.5%.
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28. ZAKAT (continued)
28.2 Provision for zakat
2021 2020
1 January 7,000,000 5,950,000
Provision for the year 14,841,667 4,988,070
Adjustment related to prior years 4,132,551 2,114,208
18,974,218 7,102,278
Payments (5,698,366) (6,052,278)
31 December 20,275,852 7,000,000
28.3 Status of zakat assessments and certificates

29.

(1)

Zakat assessment of the Company have been agreed with the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (the “ZATCA”) up to 2013.

During 2020, ZATCA issued additional zakat assessments for the years 2014 through 2018 amounting to Saudi Riyals 8.8 million,
out of which the Company paid Saudi Riyals 0.2 million in 2020 relating to the years 2014 through 2017 and paid another Saudi
Riyals 0.2 million in 2021 relatingto 2016. The Company has filed an appeal against ZATCA’s assessments.

During 2021, ZATCA issued a revised assessment with an additional zakat liability of approximately Saudi Riyals 21.3 million for
the years 2014 through 2016. The Company has filed an appeal against ZATCA’s revised assessment with the General Secretariat
of Zakat, Tax and Customs Committees (“GSZTCC’) for the years 2014 through 2016 and GSZTCC's review is awaited. The
management of the Company believes that the maximum liability that may arise upon the ultimate resolution of the appeal for
the remaining items in the assessment for 2014 to 2016 is Saudi Riyals 2 million which is included in zakat payable as of 31
December 2021. Further, ZATCA issued arevised assessment with an additional zakat liability of Saudi RiyalsNil for the years 2017
and 2018.

Further, during the year, ZATCA issued additional zakat assessments for the years 2019 and 2020 with an additional liability
amounting to Saudi Riyals 12.5 million. The Company filed an objection against ZATCA’s assessments for these years and paid an
amount of Saudi Riyals 0.4 million during the year. ZATCA subsequently issued a revised assessment amounting to Saudi Riyals
0.6 million. The Company has filed an appeal against ZATCA’s revised assessment with the GZTCCfor the years 2019 and 2020
and GSZTCC's review is awaited.

Based on management’s best estimate, the management believes that the provision recognised as of 31 December 2021 with
respect of the assessments raised is appropriate and no additional provision isrequired.

FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS RISK M ANAGEM ENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company's principal financial liabilities comprise trade payables, accruals and other current liabilities, lease liabilities and
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company's operations. The Company's principal
financial assets include trade receivables, prepayments and other current assets, cash and cash equivalent and short-term
depositsthat isderived directly from its operations.

The Company is exposed to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Company'soverall risk management objectives and policiesfocuses on having cost effective funding aswell as managing financial
risk to minimize earnings volatility, sufficient liquidity to repay creditors and lender institutions and provide maximum return to
shareholders.

M arket risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changesin market
prices. Market risk comprisesthree types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and
commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include borrowings as well as deposits. The objective of market
risk management isto manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing returns.
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29. FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS RISK M ANAGEM ENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(1)

(i)

(iii)

M arket risk (continued)

a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk isthe risk that the fair value or future cash flows of afinancial instrument will fluctuate because of changesin
market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changesin market interest rates relates primarily to the borrowings
obtained at variable rates.

At 31 December 2021, the Company had variable interest bearing financial liabilities of Saudi Riyals 672.7 million (2020: Saudi
Riyals 731.5 million), and had the interest rate varied by 1% with all the other variables held constant, net change in profit before
zakat for the year would have been approximately Saudi Riyals 4.5 million (2020: loss of Saudi Riyals 4.6 million) lower/ higher,
mainly as a result of lower / higher financial charges on floating rate borrowings.

b) Foreign exchange risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Company's transactions and financial instruments are primarily in Saudi Riyals and United States dollars. Snce Saudi Riyal is
pegged to United States dollar, management of the Company believes that the currency risk for the financial instruments is not
significant.

c) Pricerisk

The risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those changes are
caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or itsissuer or factors affecting all instrumentstraded in the market. The
Company’s financial assets and liabilities are not exposed to price risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk isthe risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading
to afinancial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its
investing activities, including short-term deposits.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. During the year,
revenues of approximately Saudi Riyals 109.4 million were derived from a single customer, based in Sweden (2020: Saudi Riyals
44 1 million from single external customer, based in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia). At 31 December 2021, 26% of trade receivables
were due from two customers (2020: 21% of the trade receivables were due form two customers). Management believes that
this concentration of credit risk is mitigated as the customers have established track record of regular and timely payments. The
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of financial assets.

For trade receivables, an internal risk assessment process determines the credit quality of the customers, taking into account
their financial positions, past experiences and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external credit
worthiness ratings in accordance with limits set by the management. The carrying amount of trade receivables relates to a
number of independent customersfor whom there isno recent history of default. Also see note 17 (trade receivables note).

Cash at bank and deposits are placed with local commercial banks with sound credit ratings.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s
approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, asfar as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet itsliabilities
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or riskingdamage to the Company’s
reputation.

Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses including the
servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot be reasonably
predicted, such as natural disasters.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by management on an annual basis. Management also monitors monthly rolling forecasts of
the Company’sliquidity requirementsand takes necessary measuresto ensure it hassufficient cash to meet itsoperational needs.

See note iv below for the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.
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29. FINANCIALINSTRUMENTSRISK M ANAGEM ENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(iv) Financial assetsand liabilities as per their respective maturities

Interest / Mark-up bearing

Financial assets

Trade receivables
Other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Short term deposits
31 December 2021
31 December 2020

Financial liabilities

Long-term borrowings
Future finance costs on long-term

Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Trade payables

Accruals and other current liabilities

31 December 2021
31 December 2020

Non-interest / Non mark-up bearing

Maturity up to one

Maturity after one

Maturity up to one

Maturity after one

year year Subtotal year year Subtotal Total

- - - 297,057,583 - 297,057,581 297,057,583

- - - 23,387,867 - 23,387,867 23,387,867
45,000,000 - 45,000,000 35,239,057 - 35,239,057 80,239,057
109,000,000 - 109,000,000 - - - 109,000,000
154,000,000 - 154,000,000 355,684,507 - 355,684,505 509,684,507
61,000,000 - 61,000,000 145,335,638 - 145,335,638 206,335,638
245,000,000 427,720,080 672,720,080 1,175,593 - 1,175,593 673,895,673
28,949,560 89,911,678 118,861,238 - - - 118,861,238
2,479,196 33,721,347 36,200,543 - - - 36,200,543

- - - 32,251,347 - 32,263,347 32,251,347

- - - 78,901,888 - 78,901,888 78,901,888
276,428,756 551,353,105 827,781,861 112,328,828 - 112,340,828 940,110,689
757,866,723 184,129,617 941,996,340 86,738,588 - 86,738,588 1,028,734,928

Non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities amounting to Saudi Riyals 35.6 million and Saudi Riyals 7.5 million, respectively (2020: Saudi Riyals 18.0 million and Saudi Riyals 3.7 million,
respectively) have been excluded from prepayments and other current assets and accruals and other current liabilities, respectively.
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29. FINANCIALINSTRUMENTSRISK M ANAGEM ENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(v) Changesin liabilities arising from financing activities

31 December 2021
As at 31 December

As at 1 January 2021 Cash Flows Others 2021
Long-term borrowings 732,191,522 (58,777,370) (8,207,979) 665,206,173
Leases 24,100,746 (805,801) 1,302,565 24,597,510
Total Financing activities 756,292,268 (59,583,171) (6,905,414) 689,803,683

31 December 2020
As at 31 December

As at 1 January 2020 Cash Flows Others 2020
Long-term borrowings 732,249,618 (3,750,000) 3,691,904 732,191,522
Leases 26,791,217 (4,055,591) 1,365,120 24,100,746
Total Ainancing activities 759,040,835 (7,805,591) 5,057,024 756,292,268

30. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILTIES

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the
Company has access at that date. The fair value of aliability reflectsits non-performance risk.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair values of the Company’s current financial instruments are estimated to approximate
their carrying values since the financial instruments are short term in nature. The fair values of the non-current financial liabilities

are estimated to approximate their carrying values as these carry interest rates which are based on prevailing market interest
rates.

31. CAPITALRISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to:
- safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and

- maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new sharesor sell assets to reduce debt. Also see note 1.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the following gearing ratio:

Note 2021 2020
Total borrowings 23 665,206,173 732,191,522
Less: cash and cash equivalents 20 (80,239,057) (84,082,213)
Net debt 584,967,116 648,109,309
Total equity 1,018,541,465 778,531,730
Gearing ratio 57% 83%

The management does not consider lease liabilities for the purposes of calculating its gearing ratio.
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32. BASICAND DILUTED EARNINGS/ (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings/ (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary sharesin issue duringthe year. Asthe Company doesnot have any dilutive potential shares,

the diluted earnings/ (loss) per share isthe same as the basic earnings/ (loss) per share.

The earnings per share for the comparative year has been adjusted retrospectively as explained in note 1.

2021 2020
Profit/ (loss) for the year 244,004,449 (276,094,306)
Adjusted number of ordinary shares for basic and diluted
earnings/ (loss) per share (restated) 67,450,863 67,450,863
Earnings/ (loss) per share (restated) 3.62 (4.09)
33. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
(i) At 31 December 2021, the Company was contingently liable for bank guarantees and letters of credit issued in the normal

course of business amounting to Saudi Riyals 50.6 million and Saudi Riyals 18.5 million, respectively (2020: Saudi Riyals 52.7
million and Saudi Riyals 0.01 million, respectively).

(i) The capital expenditure contracted by the Company but not incurred till 31 December 2021 was approximately Saudi Riyals
12.0 million (2020: Saudi Riyals 19.6 million).

34. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Trade payables of Saudi Riyals 20.6 million has been reclassified to accrued expenses as of 31 December 2020 to conform with
the presentation in the current year. Further, certain expenses presented in the notesto financial statements under general and
administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 were also reclassified to conform with the presentation for the
year. None of the reclassification impacted the profit or equity reported in 2020.

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In the opinion of management, other than as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, there have been no significant

subsequent events since the year ended 31 December 2021 that would have a material impact on the financial position of the
Company asreflected in these financial statements.
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